

INTERCOLLEGIATE
PAC 8
HOCKEY CONFERENCE
BY-LAWS, PLAYING RULES & REGULATIONS



ARIZONA STATE UNIVERSITY
STANFORD UNIVERSITY
UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA BERKELEY
UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA LOS ANGELES
UNIVERSITY OF OREGON
UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA
UNIVERSITY OF WASHINGTON
WASHINGTON STATE UNIVERSITY



I. NAME AND OFFICES

- 1.01 **Name:** The name of the association shall be: **Intercollegiate PAC 8 Hockey Conference (PAC 8)**.
- 1.02 **Principal Office Location:** The principal office location shall be at the University of the Executive Director of the Board of Directors or so dedicated and approved by the Board of Directors.
- 1.03 **Change of Address:** The Board of Directors is hereby granted full power and authority to change the principal office of the Association from one location to another. Any such change shall be noted by the Secretary in these By-Laws, but shall not be considered an amendment of these By-Laws.

II. TREASURY

- 1.04 **Fiscal Year:** The fiscal year of the association shall begin June 1. Non-profit corporate tax papers (IRS Form 990, etc.) shall be filed by the appropriate due date as stipulated by the internal revenue code.
- 1.05 **Accounting:** There shall be a closing of the league financial position concurrent with the internal revenue code.
- 1.06 **Budget:** A budget forecasting the next fiscal year shall be completed and emailed within 60 days following the Annual Meeting.

III. PURPOSE

- 1.07 **Purpose:** The purpose of the Association is to be an organization of collegiate affiliated programs that provides structure, regulates operations, and promotes quality and sportsmanship in collegiate ice hockey.

IV. TITLES AND DEFINITIONS

- 1.08 Whenever used in these By-Laws, unless otherwise qualified:
- A.** The term “Intercollegiate PAC 8 Hockey Conference” or “PAC 8” shall refer to those geographic areas under the jurisdiction of the member schools.
 - B.** The term “hockey” shall refer to the sport of ice hockey, as conducted under the auspices of USA Hockey, Inc.
 - C.** The terms “Conference”, “Association”, “member schools”, and “team(s)” are used interchangeably.

V. VOTING AND PROXY

- 1.09 **Voting:**
- A.** There shall be no cumulative voting with regard to any matter which the Board of Directors or membership of this Association shall be requested to vote.
 - B.** All actions that will impact league representation, by-laws, playing rules and regulations or member school status shall require a two thirds majority vote by all member schools.
- 1.10 **Proxy:** Proxy votes must be received in writing or email from the individual, with signature in the league office or by an officer of the league prior to the commencement of a league meeting. It is the sole responsibility of the voter to assure that the proxy vote has been received.

VI. MEMBERSHIP

- 1.11 **Qualifications:**
- A.** Any Member of PACIFIC 10 Universities, an approved active Ice Hockey Team. The original chartering teams are: ASU, Cal, Oregon, Stanford, UCLA, USC, Washington and Washington State.
 - B.** All member teams must be in compliance with all provisions of By-Laws.
 - C.** Member programs shall be required to pay the appropriate dues.
 - D.** Member programs must comply with all membership requirements as written in Rules and Regulations.

- 1.12 **Application for New Membership:**
- A.** Must be done at the Annual Meeting of the Board of Directors.
 - B.** Exclusively open to PAC 10 Universities.
 - C.** Meet compliance with all provisions of the By-Laws.
 - D.** Show three-year program stability.
 - E.** Three-fourths vote acceptance of full membership.
- 1.13 **Voting Rights:** At every Board meeting, each member school shall be allowed three voting representatives consisting of the University Advisor, the Head Coach and Player/Student Representative. Each representative of the Board of Directors should have one vote on each matter submitted to a membership vote either present or by proxy.

VII. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

- 1.14 **Powers:** The Board of Directors shall have the ultimate power and responsibility to:
- A.** Interpret and define and explain all provisions of these By-laws, Playing Rules and Regulations.
 - B.** Manage the business and affairs of the Association and have the authority to establish management policies for the operation of the Association and its programs.
 - C.** Annually elect officers of the Executive Committee by a majority.
 - D.** Replace or remove officers by a majority.
 - E.** Call meeting of the Association.
 - F.** Admit new members.
 - G.** Impose and enforce penalties for violation of the By-laws, Playing Rules and Regulations.
 - H.** Remove any penalties for violation of the By-laws, Playing Rules and Regulations.
 - I.** Appoint committees from the Board and/or the membership representatives, supervise committee work, and receive reports.
 - J.** Oversee the Executive Committee in all its duties.
 - K.** Oversee the Budget and direct the expenditures of the Association.
 - L.** Oversee the Audit of all books, vouchers, receipts and records of the Association.
- 1.15 **Executive Director:** The Executive Director shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors. The Executive Director shall be responsible for setting meeting agendas and supervising the general

progress of the Association. Further the Executive Director shall serve as an ex-officio member of all committees (except Ranking Committee) and exercise all duties and powers of the Board of Directors when it is impractical for the Executive Director to obtain a vote of the Board of Directors. The Executive Director shall promptly report such actions to the Board of Directors. The Executive Directors shall break any ties in any vote of the Board of Directors. The Executive Director shall have no power concerning decisions by the Board of Directors about his own office.

- 1.16 **Policies:** The Board of Directors shall set Association policy consistent with the purposes of the Association, as set forth in Article II. Members of the Board shall be covered by a Director's and Officer's Insurance policy at all times.
- 1.17 **Positions:** **Except for the Executive Director and Associate Director, the term of the** members of the Board of Directors shall be one year., The Board of Directors shall include an Executive Director, Associate Director, and University Club Sports Directors and said Club Sports Directors will designate a coach and student representative per member school.
- 1.18 **Actions:** Any action by the Board of Directors may be taken without a meeting if all members of the Board individually or collectively consent to such action. Such written consent(s) shall be filed with the minutes of the proceeding Board.

VIII. MEETINGS

- 1.19 **Annual Meeting:**
 - A.** Members of the Association shall meet no less than annually to function as the corporate body of the Association.
 - B.** The annual meeting of the Association membership shall be held in the spring.
- 1.20 **Regular Meetings:** All regular meetings of the Association membership and the Board of Directors shall be announced in writing at least 30 days in advance.
- 1.21 **Procedures:** The procedure of meetings shall be governed by Robert's Rules of Order, except where altered within the Association By-Laws or waived at the annual meeting by a three-fourths vote of the members.
- 1.22 **Decisions:** Decisions shall be made by majority of the vote cast, except where a different vote is required by the By-Laws.
- 1.23 **Quorum:** At all meetings of the Board of Directors, a simple majority of the Board members shall constitute a quorum.

- 1.24 **Voting:** Each member of the Board of Directors in attendance shall have one vote.
- 1.25 **Notification Waiver:** Participating members of a given meeting can agree to waive notification in writing.
- 1.26 **Communication:** Paper communication will be used for any critical legal communication; otherwise email and fax are acceptable means of communication.

IX. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE & MEMBERS

- 1.27 **Positions:** The Executive Committee shall consist of an Executive Director, Associate Director, Secretary, Treasurer, Chief of Officials and Athletic Administrator, which must be elected by the Board of Directors. The Executive Committee shall conduct necessary business between meetings of the Board of Directors except for those functions specifically reserved to the Board of Directors.
- 1.28 **Members:**
- C.** The **Executive Director** is a two-year term elected position and shall be the ranking member of the Executive Committee and has supervisory authority over its members and functions. The Executive Director is responsible for the administration of approved PAC 8 activities and subject only to policies and orders issued by the Board. The Executive Director shall preside over all meetings of the Board and report to the Board concerning the activities of the Executive Committee. Has the authority to spend up to \$500 annually in office support/staffing.
 - D.** The **Associate Director** shall be elected every-other year by the Board of Directors. The Assistant Director shall also be the Executive Director – Elect and become the Executive Director upon ratification of a majority vote of the Board of Directors at the conclusion of his term as Assistant Director. In the event of a vacancy in the office of Executive Director, the Assistant Director shall immediately assume that office. The Assistant Director shall be responsible for assisting the Executive Director in all duties and functions of the Executive Committee.
 - E.** The **Treasurer** shall be responsible for all accounting, budgeting and other fiscal duties of the PAC 8. The Treasurer will be responsible for the disbursement of Association funds to satisfy all debts and obligations incurred thereby. The Treasurer shall be initially elected by the Board of Directors. Thereafter the existing Treasurer may be approved or a new Treasurer elected at the discretion of the Board.

- F. The **Secretary** shall be responsible for the registration and certification of eligibility for all players in the Association. In addition, the Secretary shall be responsible for any minutes of the Executive Committee meetings. The Secretary shall be initially elected by the Board. Thereafter the existing Secretary may be approved or a new Secretary elected at the discretion of the Board.
- G. The **Athletic Administrator** shall be appointed by the Board of Directors and rotated on a league basis. He/she will serve on the Executive Committee and participate on the Conflict Resolution Committee. If no Athletic Administrator is available or willing to participate, the position shall be deemed vacant and communicated to the member universities as such.
- H. The **Chief of Officials** shall be appointed by the Board of Directors to focus on the development and maintenance of officiating standards across the PAC 8 Conference. He/she will serve on the Executive Committee and function as the Chairperson of the Conflict Resolution Committee. The Chief of Officials shall be initially elected by the Board of Directors. Thereafter the existing Chief of Officials may be approved or a new Chief of Officials elected at the discretion of the Board.

1.29 **Nominations:** Each candidate for a position on the Executive Committee shall be nominated at a duly constituted meeting of the Board of Directors. A nomination will not be effective unless made by a member of the Board and seconded by another member of the Board not representing the same school as the nominating member.

1.30 **Elections & Vacancies:** A vacancy in the office of Executive Director shall be automatically filled by the Assistant Director. A vacancy in any other office of the Executive Committee shall be filled by appointment of the Executive Director for the remainder of the fiscal year. All members of the Executive Committee shall be elected by a simple majority of the Board of Directors.

1.31 **Appointees of the Executive Committee:** The executive Director may form committees and appoint their members in his/her discretion. In particular, but without limitation, the Executive Director shall appoint at least one statistician to maintain accurate records of league play and rankings.

X. CONFLICT RESOLUTION COMMITTEE

1.32 **Committee:** The conflict resolution committee shall consist of the Chief of Officials, an Athletic Administrator and two appointees to be

chosen by the Chief of Officials for the resolution of each dispute. No committee members appointed shall be representatives of a school involved in the dispute to be resolved. Each committee member shall be a representative of a different member school.

- 1.33 **Action:** The Conflict Resolution Committee will decide all appeals from decisions of the League Commissioner pursuant to the PAC 8 Playing Rules & Regulations. Upon receipt of a timely appeal, the Chief of Officials shall immediately choose two appointees to form and convene a conflict resolution committee. All decisions of the Conflict Resolution Committee shall be final and binding.

XI. LEAGUE COMMISSIONER

- 1.34 The **League Commissioner** shall be elected by a two-thirds majority vote of the Board of Directors to serve at their discretion. The Commissioner shall be responsible for interpretation of rules, including eligibility and discipline. The Commissioner shall have the sole responsibility and power for ruling upon disputes concerning playing rules, regulations, eligibility and discipline. The Commissioner may suspend or otherwise sanction any player, coach and off-ice officials. The Executive Director will assume the acting-Commissioner role in the absence of a Commissioner.

XII. AFFILIATIONS

- 1.35 **USA Hockey:** Association must fulfill all administrative responsibilities and duties imposed upon it pertaining to USA Hockey.
- 1.36 **School:** Each member school must present an affidavit to verify affiliation in good standing with their member school.
- 1.37 **National Affiliation:** *Member Schools are required to be members (in good standing) of the ACHA and in full compliance with registration and roster requirements.* To be reconfirmed at the Annual meeting of the Board of Directors, on a yearly basis, with a majority vote.

XIII. ARBITRATION CLAUSE

- 1.38 **Arbitration:** All legal disputes between member schools shall be resolved by binding arbitration.

XIV. AMENDMENTS

- 1.39 **Amendments:** Amendments to any rules, regulations, etc., can exclusively take effect at the annual Association meeting, enacted with a two-thirds vote.

XV. DISSOLUTION

- 1.40 **Dissolution:** In the event the PAC 8 – Collegiate Hockey Association finds it necessary or desirable to dissolve or cease to function as a non-profit corporation, all remaining assets shall be distributed to an organization or organizations, to be selected by the Board of Directors, which qualify as exempt organizations within the meaning of Section 501(c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, or any succeeding provision of Federal Tax Law.

PLAYING RULES & REGULATIONS

I. PLAYER ELIGIBILITY

- Section 1.01 Players shall be degree-seeking students enrolled in a program of study leading to a baccalaureate, masters, or doctoral degree, as determined by the regulations of their university.
- (a) Players must carry a minimum of twelve (12) units (credits/hours) per term (quarter or semester) for undergraduates and six (6) units for graduate students.
 - (b) Players must successfully complete (take and pass) the minimum of required units (credit hours) each term (semester/quarter) in order to be eligible for play the following term (semester/quarter).
 - (c) Players must maintain a cumulative GPA of at least 2.0 by the beginning of a student athlete's second year of eligibility.
- Section 1.02 A Senior in their last semester, who has declared graduation, shall be exempt from the 12 unit requirement provided that they are still a registered student at their school.
- Section 1.03 A maximum of four graduate students may be included on a game roster, provided that they are certified as full-time graduate students by their school's registrar's office.
- Section 1.04 No player may play until they have been registered through the league with USA Hockey.
- (a) Each team is responsible to timely comply with the ACHA provided USA Hockey registration process for all rostered players, as well as "JV" or B team players.
 - (b) A copy of each team's USA Hockey registration and ACHA Roster is to be supplied to the PAC 8 Secretary by the ACHA deadlines.
- Section 1.05 A player must be rostered by the ACHA registration deadline(s).
- Section 1.06 Eligible Number of Years to Play - All players, including any player having played D-I, D-II or D-III, shall fall under the ACHA eligibility rules for years of available eligibility.

II. TEAM ELIGIBILITY

- Section 1.07 The game roster shall be limited to 21 (either 18 skaters and 3 goalies or 19 skaters and 2 goalies.)
- Section 1.08 Official Team Rosters:
- (a) There shall be no limit on the season roster, except where mandated by the ACHA.
 - (b) Rosters are due to the PAC 8 Secretary by the same required deadline as mandated by the ACHA.
 - (c) ACHA submitted rosters are acceptable for compliance to the PAC 8.

- (d)** Player Additions – Phone-in/Email additions are allowed, provided USA Hockey (IMR) and certification by registrar of eligibility is submitted within 10 days of addition.
- Section 1.09 Each team must be in good standing having paid full league fees and ACHA fees.
- Section 1.10 ACHA League Fees: Each team is required to file appropriate paperwork and fees directly with the ACHA.
- Section 1.11 PAC 8 League Fees:
 - (a)** Annual Basic Dues - currently \$525.
 - (b)** Annual Tournament Fee - paid by All Teams – currently \$175.
 - (c)** Failure to pay dues by October 31 will eliminate the team from league rankings and post season play until in compliance.
 - (d)** It is each teams responsibility to maintain their appropriate contact information for communications and invoicing with the PAC 8 Secretary and Treasurer.
 - (e)** An appeal may be made to the Executive Director, who has the discretion to provide a 30-day extension.

III. PLAYING RULES

- Section 1.12 The PAC 8 Association shall use the rules of play specific in the current version of the NCAA Rule Book with amendments as available online at www.ncaa.org.
 - (a)** Current rulebooks are encouraged to be distributed by the teams to their local officials and will be further supported, when possible by the PAC 8 League Office.
 - (b)** The Conference encourages enforcement of playing rules to JV and B teams
 - (c)** Major NCAA Rule Exceptions:
 - (i) Regular Season and Playoff Shootouts
 - (ii) Full-time Graduate Students (maximum 4)
 - (iii) Most administrative matters related to governance and compliance (all discussed within this document)
 - (iv) Ranking System and Playoff Selection Process
 - (v) Dispute Resolution Process
 - (vi) Rule 6 Section 1 f & g (player and coach game and officials interference – to automatically be a bench minor and game misconduct for each infraction.)
- Section 1.13 A rules committee shall be formed to review current year’s NCAA playing rules and suggest applicable amendments for the Association.
- Section 1.14 Association games – minimum game time – 2.5 hours (unless agreed upon by the two teams two weeks ahead of time).
 - (a)** Required game time: Three 20-minute stop-time periods, with a 10-minute warm-up.

- (b)** Away team requirements:
 - (i) Cover all travel, lodging & food costs.
 - (ii) Request by email 2 weeks prior to the game, up to 6 comp tickets, to be mailed or emailed.
 - (iii) Failure to request within the timeline will result in forfeiture of comp tickets. May not be requested on game day.
 - (iv) Notify home team by email 2 weeks prior to the game if the school's band will be coming to play; notification must include the number of band members attending. No admission will be charged for instrument-carrying student band members. The visiting team shall be limited to 40 band members, unless a greater number is allowed by the home team
- (c)** Home team requirements:
 - (i) Provide basic instructions, including directions and travel informational support, such as hotel, van & food recommendations, etc.
 - (ii) Provide a minimum of 6 comp tickets for visiting teams, which are required to be submitted by email a week in advance when requested.
 - (iii) Failure of away team to comply with advance requests voids any responsibility to provide comp tickets.
 - (iv) Supply game and warm-up pucks (League Standard is 20 supplied per team for warm-up.)
 - (v) Schedule and pay for referees.
 - (vi) Schedule and pay for ice fees.
- (d)** 3 Referee System Required as mandated by the NCAA using the 2 alternate referee system. However, if a referee is sick or unable to officiate, a 2 Referee System may be used.

Section 1.15 The Season Length: From first weekend that includes at least one day of October through the ACHA cut-off weekend, usually the first weekend in February of the following year.

- (a)** Season Dates to be determined for each season at the immediate preceding league meeting.

Section 1.16 Conclusion of games: If a game is tied at the end of the NCAA required overtime, a shoot-out shall be used to resolve the game for PAC 8 standings.

- (a)** Five players shall be chosen from each team at the conclusion of the game.
- (b)** Visiting team shoots first, then alternating through the designated five from each team.
- (c)** If, after the first five tries, a tie still exists, single unused player replacement will be used until victory.
- (d)** If an entire bench has been exhausted, shortened bench or not, a team will start begin again with their first five shooters in the order they shot previously and so on through the bench.

IV. DISPUTES & RESOLUTIONS

- Section 1.17 The Commissioner shall have sole responsibility and power for ruling upon disputes concerning playing rules, eligibility, and discipline.
- Section 1.18 Any and all disputes must be submitted to the commissioner within 72 hours.
- Section 1.19 Appeals: Any member school must appeal the commissioner's decision within 24 hours at which time the commissioner forms a conflict committee. Commissioner shall respond to any issues within 48 hours (except regarding academic issues). Appeals: Any member school must appeal the commissioner's decision within 24 hours at which time the commissioner forms a conflict committee. Commissioner shall respond to any issues within 48 hours (except regarding academic issues).
- Section 1.20 Supplemental Discipline: May be levied upon members, including teams, coaches and players with a majority vote of the Conflict Resolution Committee that may include, but not limited to, forfeiture of games, suspension, expulsion and probation.

V. SCHEDULING

- Section 1.21 Games:
- (a) Minimum 10 PAC 8 Games
 - (i) Maximum of 4 games (first four games within the agreed PAC season dates for that year) will be allowed with a common opponent to count toward league rankings.
 - (ii) The PAC 8 members and the ranking system support a broader scheduling of league games to allow for greater opportunity to be fairly and invited to the PAC 8 Championship Tournament.
- Section 1.22 Ranking System: Results against PAC 8 – Due to an unequal amount of games played by each team, the PAC 8 utilizes a and weighted standing system to rank the teams based on win percentage and rewards for wins against stronger opponents.
- (i) Win % vs PAC 8 teams played, ranked 1-4 points awarded as follows: first place shall receive 4.0 points, second place – 3.5 points, third place – 3.0 points, fourth place – 2.5 points, fifth place – 2.0 points, sixth place – 1.5 pts, seventh place – 1.0 point, eighth place – 0.5 point

Section 1.23 Reporting and Game Scoresheet Deadlines:

- (a) All final schedules must be submitted to the league office by Sept. 1.
- (b) All games sheets must be submitted by fax to the league office no later than seven days after the game date
 - (i) Failure to comply on game submissions will result in the games not counting toward league rankings until in compliance.

Section 1.24 Game Cancellation of Master Scheduled Games (post Sept.1): All teams are expected to fulfill their schedule requirements and are encouraged to have binding reciprocal agreements in place for each hosted game/weekend.

- (a) Cancellation 30 days in advance or more: The canceling team will forfeit the game and pay a \$100 fine to the opposing team.
- (b) Cancellation less than 30 days and more than 7 days in advance: The canceling team will forfeit the game and pay a \$250 fine to the opposing team.
- (c) Cancellation in 7 days or less in advance: the canceling team will forfeit the game and pay a \$500 fine to the opposing team.
- (d) Both teams involved in a game cancellation, must immediately notify the Executive Director and Secretary.
- (e) Rink cancellation cannot provide grounds for a game cancellation without a rink contract.

VI. UNIFORMS

Section 1.25 Jerseys – The home team must wear light (preferably white) jerseys and socks, and the visiting team must wear dark jerseys and socks, unless agreed upon by the two teams at a minimum of one week in advance.

Section 1.26 Patches

- (a) Sponsorship patches are allowed on a case-by-case basis provided permission is received beforehand by the executive committee.

VII. TOURNAMENTS

- Section 1.27 Cities and types to be decided on a yearly basis at the Annual Meeting.
- Section 1.28 A Tournament Committee is recommended for promotion, coordination and sponsorship.
- Section 1.29 The League will advance/fund the related ice time and referees for the tournament if the hosting team agrees and complies with the following:
- (a) An agreed upon budget is completed and submitted to the league at least 60 days in advance
 - (b) Revenue from the tournament gate will be first applied to the tournament expenses advanced by the league – either directly to the vendor or to the league office
 - (c) All gate profits and sponsorships after direct expenses will be split 50/50 between the league and the host team.
- Section 1.30 The Champions Cup (permanent league trophy) will be held by the winning team and returned the following season to the championship tournament.
- (a) It is the responsibility of the winning team to have engraving completed in the same format as existing lettering on trophy.
 - (b) Any damage done to the trophy is the responsibility of the team holding the cup, including replacement if repair is not possible.

VIII. POST SEASON HONORS

- Section 1.31 Awards for the **All PAC 8 Team** will be honored as follows:
- (a) First Team (3 forwards, 2 defense, 1 goalie)
 - (b) Second Team (3 forwards, 2 defense, 1 goalie)
 - (c) Honorable Mention (3 forwards, 2 defense, 1 goalie)
 - (d) Coach of the Year
- Section 1.32 The **Nomination Process** for the PAC 8 Awards are as follows:
- (a) An email will be sent requesting nominations to each member institution two weeks before the PAC 8 Championship Tournament is to be played.
 - (b) Each team's coach and/or team rep sends in their top 6 players: 3 forwards, 2 defensemen, and 1 goalie. Players are to be listed in order ranked, with the top player listed first in each positional category (forward, defense, goalie), with 1 being the top spot. For goalie, only 1 should be is listed.
 - (c) Under the player's name: list their stats, and then write a few sentences about the player (strengths, accomplishments, highlights, etc).

- (d) Send all nominations in MS Word format and/or via email in the "Message" area to the PAC 8 Associate Director and the Secretary.

Section 1.33 Awards will be based on the following **Voting Process**:

- (a) Each team's player nominations will be compiled and sent out to each member institution via email for voting. Each team will vote for the top 12 players (6 forwards, 4 defense, 2 goalie and Coach of the Year) from other member teams. Number 1 being your vote for the top player per position.
- (b) No team can vote for their own player or coach.
- (c) All votes must be sent 1 week prior to the PAC 8 Championship Tournament in MS Word format and/or via email in the "Message" area to the PAC 8 Treasurer .

Section 1.34 Votes will be tallied in the following format:

- (a) Forwards: First place vote = 20 points; Second place vote = 15 points; Third place vote = 10 points; Fourth place vote = 5 points; Fifth place vote = 3 points; Sixth place vote = 2 points.
- (b) Defense: First place vote = 10 points; Second place vote = 5 points; Third place vote = 4 points; Fourth place vote=3.
- (c) Goalie: First place vote = 10 points; Second place vote = 7.

Section 1.35 Tie-breaking shall be calculated as follows:

- (a) Player with most first place votes wins.
- (b) If still tied, player place highest on own team's nomination form wins.
- (c) If still tied, lowest PAC 8 total Penalty Minutes